

SAFETY FACTOR ASSESSMENT FOR STABILITY OF THE BOTTOM ASH STAGING AREA

Westar Energy – Tecumseh Energy Center



Submitted To: Westar Energy 818 Kansas Avenue Topeka, Kansas 66612 Attention: Loren Risch, P.E.

Submitted By: Golder Associates Inc. 44 Union Boulevard, Suite 300 Lakewood, Colorado 80228



1657212



August 23, 2016

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Golder Associates Inc. (Golder) has prepared this report for Westar Energy (Westar) to summarize the results of Golder's slope stability evaluation of the bottom ash staging area at Westar's Tecumseh Energy Center (TEC) near Tecumseh, Kansas. This report serves as the initial safety factor assessment required under 40 CFR 257.73(e)(1) for surface impoundments used in the management of coal combustion residuals (CCRs). The report presents a description of the bottom ash staging area at TEC, a summary of Golder's subsurface investigation around the bottom ash staging area, a narrative describing the basis and results of Golder's slope stability evaluation, closing remarks, and a list of cited references.

The computed minimum factors of safety resulting from Golder's slope stability evaluation are summarized and compared with the minimum required factors of safety in Table ES-1.

Loading Condition	Computed Minimum Factor of Safety	Minimum Required Factor of Safety
Static, long-term maximum storage pool	1.51	1.50
Static, maximum surcharge pool	1.51	1.40
Seismic	1.38	1.00

 Table ES-1: Summary of Slope Stability Evaluation Results

In each case, the computed minimum factor of safety resulting from Golder's slope stability evaluation meets or exceeds the minimum required factor of safety specified in 40 CFR 257.73(e)(1) for surface impoundments used in the management of CCRs.





Table of Contents

EXECU	ITIVE SUMMARYES	;-1
1.0	INTRODUCTION	.1
1.1	Background	. 1
1.2	Bottom Ash Staging Area Description	.1
2.0	SUBSURFACE INVESTIGATION	.2
3.0	SLOPE STABILITY EVALUATION	.4
3.1	Minimum Required Factors of Safety	.4
3.2	Cross Section	.4
3.3	Engineering Parameters	.5
3.4	Groundwater	.6
3.5	Stability Analyses	.6
4.0	CLOSING	.8
5.0	REFERENCES	.9

List of Tables

Table ES-1	Summary of Slope Stability Evaluation Results
Table 1	Summary of Slope Stability Evaluation Engineering Parameters
Table 2	Summary of Slope Stability Evaluation Results

List of Figures

Figure 1	Facility Layout
Figure 2	Slope Stability Analysis Result – Static Loading, Maximum Storage Pool Condition
Figure 3	Slope Stability Analysis Result - Static Loading, Maximum Surcharge Pool Condition
Figure 4	Slope Stability Analysis Result – Seismic Loading

List of Appendices

- Appendix A Appendix B Berm Reshaping Design Information
- Borehole Logs
- Laboratory Geotechnical Test Results
- Appendix C Appendix D Seismic Hazard Map



1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Golder Associates Inc. (Golder) has prepared this report for Westar Energy (Westar) to summarize the results of Golder's slope stability evaluation of the bottom ash staging area at Westar's Tecumseh Energy Center (TEC) near Tecumseh, Kansas. This report serves as the initial safety factor assessment required under 40 CFR 257.73(e)(1) for surface impoundments used in the management of coal combustion residuals (CCRs). The report presents a description of the bottom ash staging area at TEC (Section 1), a summary of Golder's subsurface investigation around the bottom ash staging area (Section 2), a narrative describing the basis and results of Golder's slope stability evaluation (Section 3), closing remarks (Section 4), and a list of cited references (Section 5).

1.2 Bottom Ash Staging Area Description

Tecumseh Energy Center is a coal-fired electric generating facility located in Shawnee County, Kansas. Bottom ash generated at TEC is temporarily staged (with small quantities of other permitted nonhazardous materials) in a surface impoundment located west of the power block to facilitate dewatering. The bottom ash staging area is shown in Figure 1. After bottom ash is dewatered, it is transported to an on-site landfill for permanent storage or used beneficially off site. The bottom ash staging area was primarily constructed by excavation from existing grades, although some fill was used to establish the crest of the berm surrounding the surface impoundment. The bottom ash staging area underwent modification in 1980, when the center dike was lengthened and raised, the outlet area was modified, and the northeast portion of the surface impoundment was deepened to allow for greater storage capacity. The berm to the north of the bottom ash staging area was reshaped and revegetated in 2010 to flatten the downstream slope and protect against erosion of the downstream berm slope and toe. The reshaped downstream berm slope was specifically designed to yield a minimum static factor of safety equal to 1.5. Appendix A presents the relevant design information for the reshaping work¹.

Mixed-use land surrounds the west and south sides of the bottom ash staging area, and energy generation facility infrastructure and the Kansas River are situated to the east and north. Tecumseh Creek lies at the toe of the berm on the west and north sides of the surface impoundment and discharges into the Kansas River approximately 700 feet downstream of the bottom ash staging area.

¹ Reshaping from Sta. 0+50 to Sta. 3+00 is relevant for slope stability of the bottom ash staging area.



2.0 SUBSURFACE INVESTIGATION

Three boreholes, TEC-3, TEC-4, and TEC-5, were completed on October 27, 2009, at the locations shown in Figure 1 to support a slope stability evaluation of the bottom ash staging area. The borehole locations were designated by Golder and Westar in areas where site topography indicated a downstream berm slope height of 12 feet or more, generally around the south, west, and north sides of the bottom ash staging area. The boreholes were drilled between the center and the downstream edge of the berm crest and were advanced with a truck-mounted Central Mine Equipment Company (CME) drill rig using 6-inch-diameter hollow-stem continuous-flight augers. Relatively undisturbed soil samples were collected from each borehole using 2-inch-diameter thin-walled tube samplers (Shelby tubes). Soil strata were visually classified by a geotechnical engineer from Golder in accordance with the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS). Berm stratigraphy was fairly consistent between the boreholes and generally consisted of gravel road surfacing underlain primarily by low-plasticity clay (CL), with some high-plasticity clay (CH)², to the completed borehole depths. The berm crest around the bottom ash staging area is at an approximate elevation of 885 feet above mean sea level, and the borehole depths ranged from 15 to 25 feet. Groundwater was not observed in any of the three boreholes. Borehole logs with field and laboratory soil classifications are provided in Appendix B.

Two additional boreholes, P-1 and P-2, were completed on March 23, 2010, at the locations shown in Figure 1. Piezometers were installed in these boreholes to better define piezometric levels in the steepest portions of the berm on the north side of the bottom ash staging area. The boreholes were drilled 16 to 22 feet from the upstream edge of the berm crest and were advanced with a truck-mounted CME drill rig using 6-inch-diameter hollow-stem continuous-flight augers. A relatively undisturbed soil sample was collected from P-2 using a 2-inch-diameter thin-walled tube sampler (Shelby tube). Soil strata were visually classified by a geotechnical engineer from Golder in accordance with the USCS. Berm stratigraphy was fairly consistent between the boreholes and generally consisted of gravel road surfacing underlain by CL to the completed borehole depths. The borehole depth was approximately 40 feet for both P-1 and P-2. Borehole logs with field soil classifications are provided in Appendix B.

The piezometers consisted of polyvinyl chloride (PVC) pipe, with the lowest 10 feet slotted to allow measurement of piezometric levels. The annular space around the slotted PVC pipe was backfilled with granular material to create a filter pack. A bentonite seal approximately 10 feet in height was placed in the annular space above the filter pack. The remaining annular space was filled with cuttings, and a concrete pad was installed at the ground surface. A lockable well cap was installed on each piezometer. The piezometers were registered with the Kansas Department of Health and Environment. Groundwater elevations in the piezometers were recorded on August 30, 2010, approximately five months after

² A single soil sample classified as CH by laboratory geotechnical testing. The test results were on the borderline between CL and CH (liquid limit equal to 50), and the specimen was designated as CH in accordance with the USCS.





installation of the piezometers. At that time, the groundwater level was measured at an elevation of 859 feet above mean sea level in both P-1 and P-2. The piezometers were subsequently abandoned.

In 2016, additional subsurface investigation was conducted by others in the vicinity of the bottom ash staging area (Haley & Aldrich 2016). The findings of this work are generally consistent with those from the subsurface investigation conducted by Golder in 2009 and 2010. Based on a review of the findings, berm stratigraphy was fairly consistent between boreholes and generally consisted of CL and CH³. The groundwater elevation measured in a piezometer installed in the berm on the north side of the bottom ash staging area as part of the 2016 subsurface investigation was 853.6 feet above mean sea level approximately one month after piezometer installation.

³ Classification was likely limited to field methods. Haley & Aldrich (2016) does not indicate that laboratory geotechnical testing was conducted as part of the subsurface investigation.



3.0 SLOPE STABILITY EVALUATION

3.1 Minimum Required Factors of Safety

Under 40 CFR 257.73(e)(1), the computed minimum factors of safety for slope stability of the bottom ash staging area are required to meet or exceed the following minimum factors of safety:

- 1.50 for static loading under the long-term, maximum storage pool condition
- 1.40 for static loading under the maximum surcharge pool condition
- 1.00 for seismic loading under the seismic event with a two-percent probability of being exceeded in 50 years based on seismic hazard maps published by the United States Geological Survey (USGS), as stated in 40 CFR 257.53
- 1.20 for liquefaction factor of safety, if the berms are constructed of soils that are susceptible to liquefaction

As described in Section 2.0, the berm around the bottom ash staging area consists primarily of CL soil. Based on laboratory geotechnical testing summarized in Appendix C, the liquid limit of soil samples collected at TEC ranged from 42 to 50. The plasticity index of soil samples collected at TEC ranged from 24 to 33. The moisture contents of soil samples collected at TEC were approximately half of the liquid limit. Soil materials having these characteristics are not susceptible to liquefaction (Bray et al. 2004). Therefore, the requirement to compute the liquefaction factor of safety does not apply to the bottom ash staging area at TEC.

3.2 Cross Section

Golder identified the critical cross section for slope stability through the berm surrounding the bottom ash staging area. The location of the critical cross section is shown in Figure 1. Golder selected the steepest portion of the berm as the critical cross section, since we observed subsurface conditions to be fairly consistent across the bottom ash staging area. The location of the critical cross section is through the berm north of the bottom ash staging area, which has an overall downstream slope as steep as 1.73 horizontal to 1 vertical based on survey information from the reshaping and revegetation work in 2010. Riprap placed at the toe of the downstream slope in this location as part of the reshaping and revegetation work in 2010 is represented in the cross section (refer to Appendix A). For purposes of the slope stability evaluation, we assumed that the bottom ash staging area was filled with bottom ash to an elevation of 880 feet above mean sea level (approximately 5 feet below the berm crest). We assumed the depth of the surface impoundment to be approximately 20 feet (i.e., bottom elevation of approximately 865 feet above mean sea level) based on site observations and conservatively assumed an upstream berm slope of 0.5 horizontal to 1 vertical. Tecumseh Creek on the north and west sides of the facility has a bottom elevation of approximately 846 feet above mean sea level. The base of the cross section is at an elevation of 842 feet above mean sea level, which corresponds with the top of the underlying shale layer (Haley & Aldrich 2016).





5

For the maximum storage pool condition, the water level in the surface impoundment was taken as the elevation of the outlet weir, which is 880 feet above mean sea level (approximately 5 feet below the berm crest). For the maximum surcharge pool condition, the water level was conservatively assumed to be at the berm crest elevation, which is approximately 885 feet above mean sea level.

3.3 Engineering Parameters

Golder collected relatively undisturbed soil samples from most of the boreholes described in Section 2.0 for laboratory geotechnical testing to determine engineering parameters for use in the slope stability evaluation. The laboratory geotechnical test results are presented in Appendix C.

Soil materials composing the berm were considered to be uniform based on the similarities in field soil classifications and laboratory geotechnical test data. Golder assigned a moist unit weight of 125 pounds per cubic foot (pcf) to the soil material based on the average value derived from density and moisture content testing of undisturbed soil samples collected at TEC. For static slope stability analyses, Golder assigned effective stress (drained) Mohr-Coulomb strength parameters to the soil material based on the results of consolidated-undrained triaxial testing (with pore pressure measurement) of TEC-4 Sample 2, an undisturbed sample collected at TEC⁴:

- Effective friction angle = 29 degrees
- Effective cohesion = 180 pounds per square foot (psf)

For the seismic slope stability analysis, Golder assigned a vertical stress ratio (ratio of undrained strength to initial vertical effective stress) of 0.38 to the soil material based on the results of consolidated-undrained triaxial testing of TEC-4 Sample 2, an undisturbed soil sample collected at TEC, with a 20-percent strength reduction applied as recommended by Makdisi and Seed (1977)⁵. A minimum undrained shear strength of 1,000 psf was applied based on the description of the soil as "stiff" or "very stiff" on the borehole logs provided in Appendix B⁶ (Terzaghi and Peck 1967).

Golder assigned a moist unit weight of 130 pcf and an effective friction angle of 45 degrees to riprap based on experience with similar materials. No effective cohesion was assumed. Because excess pore

⁶ The assumed minimum undrained shear strength is lower than the compressive strengths indicated by pocket penetrometer testing conducted on relatively undisturbed samples in the field, as shown on the borehole logs provided in Appendix B.



⁴ Golder considers these strength parameters to be conservative for soil materials near the surface of the downstream berm slope, since these materials were placed and compacted as structural fill as part of the reshaping and revegetation work in 2010. The compactive effort would be expected to increase the strength of the materials relative to the strength of undisturbed specimens.

⁵ The vertical stress ratios for the individual specimens tested were 0.59 for Specimen A, 0.48 for Specimen B, and 0.48 for Specimen C.



pressures are not expected to develop during shearing of riprap, drained conditions were assumed for static and seismic slope stability analyses.

Golder assigned a moist unit weight of 85 pcf to bottom ash within the surface impoundment based on experience with similar materials. Golder conservatively assumed that the bottom ash within the surface impoundment contributes no strength.

The engineering parameters assigned to soil materials and bottom ash are summarized in Table 1.

		Drained Strengtl	h Parameters	Undrained Strength Parameters		
Material	Moist Unit Weight	Effective Friction Angle	Effective Cohesion	Vertical Stress Ratio	Minimum Shear Strength	
Soil	125 pcf	29 degrees	180 psf	0.38	1,000 psf	
Riprap	130 pcf	45 degrees	0 psf	Not applicable		
Bottom ash	85 pcf	No strength				

Table 1: Summary of Slope Stability Evaluation Engineering Parameters

3.4 Groundwater

Groundwater was observed at an elevation of 859 feet above mean sea level in P-1 and P-2 approximately five months after installation of the piezometers. Golder conservatively assumed the phreatic surface to consist of two segments:

- A straight line between the modeled water level in the surface impoundment and the observed groundwater level in P-2 at a horizontal distance of 16 feet from the upstream edge of the berm crest.
- A straight line from the observed groundwater level in P-2 at a horizontal distance of 16 feet from the upstream edge of the berm crest to the observed flow depth in Tecumseh Creek at the interface of the riprap and the native soil near the berm toe.

On September 2, 2010, a test hole was excavated approximately 30 feet upslope from the berm toe near the location of the critical cross section. Groundwater was encountered at an elevation of 851 feet above mean sea level, which is in agreement with the assumed phreatic surface.

3.5 Stability Analyses

Golder performed stability analyses using Slide, a two-dimensional slope stability computer program developed by Rocscience (2016). Factors of safety were computed for circular slip surfaces using Spencer's method for force and moment equilibrium. For the seismic analysis, Golder used a seismic coefficient of 0.03, which is half of the peak ground acceleration (PGA) with a two-percent chance of exceedance in 50 years (United States Environmental Protection Agency 1995). The PGA with a





7

1657212

two-percent chance of exceedance in 50 years at the site was taken from the seismic hazard map provided in Appendix D, as published by USGS (2014).

The slip surface with the minimum computed factor of safety for static loading under the maximum storage pool condition is shown in Figure 2. The slip surface with the minimum computed factor of safety for static loading under the maximum surcharge pool condition is shown in Figure 3. The slip surface with the minimum computed factor of safety for seismic loading is shown in Figure 4. The computed minimum factors of safety for static and seismic slope stability analyses are summarized and compared with the minimum required factors of safety in Table 2. In each case, the computed minimum factor of safety meets or exceeds the minimum required factor of safety.

Table 2: Summary of Slope Stability Evaluation Results

Loading Condition	Computed Minimum Factor of Safety	Minimum Required Factor of Safety
Static, long-term maximum storage pool	1.51	1.50
Static, maximum surcharge pool	1.51	1.40
Seismic	1.38	1.00





4.0 CLOSING

This report summarizes the results of Golder's slope stability evaluation of the bottom ash staging area at TEC. The computed minimum factors of safety resulting from Golder's slope stability evaluation meet or exceed the minimum required factors of safety specified in 40 CFR 257.73(e)(1) for surface impoundments used in the management of CCRs. This report serves as the initial safety factor assessment required under 40 CFR 257.73(e)(1) for the bottom ash staging area at TEC.

GOLDER ASSOCIATES INC.

Ron R. Jorgenson Principal and Senior Practice Leader

RRJ/JEO/dls

ason Ubern

Jason E. Obermeyer, P.E. Associate and Senior Engineer





5.0 **REFERENCES**

- Bray, J.D., Sancio, R.B., Riemer, M.F., and Durgunoglu, H.T. (2004). *Liquefaction susceptibility of finegrained soils*. Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Soil Dynamics and Earthquake Engineering and the 3rd International Conference on Earthquake Geotechnical Engineering. Berkeley, CA. January 7 to 9, 2004.
- Haley & Aldrich, Inc. (2016). CCR Groundwater Monitoring Network Description for the Tecumseh Energy Center, Tecumseh, Kansas. Draft letter report prepared for Westar Energy. File No. 41938-120. May 24, 2016.
- Makdisi, F.I., and Seed, H.B. (1977). A Simplified Procedure for Estimating Earthquake-Induced Deformations in Dams and Embankments. Report No. UCB/EERC-77/19. August 1977.

Rocscience Inc. (2016). SLIDE Version 7.017. Build date: June 1, 2016.

- Terzaghi, K., and Peck, R.B. (1967). Soil Mechanics in Engineering Practice. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. New York, NY.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency. (1995). RCRA Subtitle D (258) Seismic Design Guidance for Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Facilities. Report No. EPA/600/R-95/051. April 1995.
- United States Geological Survey (USGS). (2014). *Two-percent probability of exceedance in 50 years map of peak ground acceleration*. Available on the web: http://earthquake.usgs.gov/hazards/products/ conterminous/2014/2014pga2pct.pdf (accessed June 29, 2016).



FIGURES





CLIENT WESTAR ENERGY

818 S. KANSAS AVE.

TOPEKA, KS 66612 CONSULTANT



YYYY-MM-DD	2016-07-18
DESIGNED	JEO
PREPARED	JEO
REVIEWED	CCS
APPROVED	RRJ

PROJECT

TECUMSEH ENERGY CENTER EVALUATION OF BOTTOM ASH STAGING AREA SLOPE STABILITY

TITLE FACILITY LAYOUT

PROJECT NO.	REV.	FIGURE
1657212	А	1







APPENDIX A BERM RESHAPING DESIGN INFORMATION

GENERAL NOTES

1. Structure locations to be field located and staked by The Watershed Institute.

2. Before any construction activity, the contractor is responsible for calling Kansas One Call at 800-344-7233 (800-DIG-SAFE).

3. Accepted Erosion Control practices will be applied to all disturbed areas.

4. Corps of Engineers 404 and applicable state permits will be obtained prior to project construction.

5. The information shown in these plans concerning type and location of underground utilities is not guaranteed to be accurate or all inclusive. Existing utilities and their locations, as shown on the plans, represent the best information has been obtained from the various utility companies and is either from company record drawings or company provided field locations. The plan locations shown are not guaranteed. Additional existing utilities may also be encountered. The contractor is responsible for making his own determinations as to the type and location of underground utilities as may be necessary to avoid damage thereto.

6. Contractor shall maintain construction limits within the existing and/or proposed rights-of-way and easements.

7. The engineer has not performed property or rightof-way surveys for any of the locations shown on this project. Right-of-way or property lines shown on the plans are approximate and are shown for general orientation only. Property corners or other survey markers have not been located, unless specifically called out on the plans.

8. Coordinates for this project are not associated with any known survey or coordinate system.

9. Soil moving calculations are based on available information. Contractor shall inspect the site and make an evaluation of existing conditions. Actual soil moving will be based on truck load tickets or field measurement after construction or as-built survey.

10. Incorporate all concrete rubble in stream bed and banks into LPSTP structure.

11. Slope top of bank to direct overland flow toward the ash pond and away from graded slope.

12. Remove all in-channel woody debris and bank vegetation. All woody debris and vegetation is to be hauled off-site.

13. Contractor to coordinate construction with Westar personnel.

14. Remove all metal and miscellaneous debris from stream bank. All removed metal and miscellaneous debris is to be hauled off-site.

Sta 0+00 N 4992.83

E 4422.46

15. Existing fence is to be replaced at locations where the proposed top of bank will encroach on the existing fence (approximately Sta. 0+75 to 3+00). New fencing, barbed wire, and barb arms shall match the existing materials, unless indicated otherwise. Round fence posts shall be spaced at 10-foot intervals. Post holes shall be at least 9 inches in diameter and at least 3 feet deep, shall be located at least 1 foot from the top of the graded slope, and shall be filled with concrete having a minimum 28-day compressive strength of 3,500 psi.

16. Existing trees and vegetation shall be completely removed between Sta. 0+00 and Sta. 3+00, unless indicated otherwise. Existing trees shall be cut as near to the ground surface as possible between Sta. 3+00 and Sta. 4+50. Materials resulting from clearing and grubbing activities shall be hauled off-site. 17. Topsoil shall be stripped and stockpiled separately. Topsoil shall be applied to the finished slope to a minimum thickness of 6 inches between Sta. 0+00 and Sta. 3+00.

18. Structural fill shall consist of earthen material classified as CL or ML under the Unified Soil Classification System, unless otherwise approved by the Engineer.

19. Structural fill shall be placed in horizontal lifts having a loose thickness no greater than 12 inches, progressing from the base of the slope to the crest of the slope. Lifts shall be keyed into competent native materials as shown in the Drawings. Structural fill shall be compacted to a minimum of 95 percent of the standard Proctor maximum dry density at a moisture content between the standard Proctor optimum moisture content. The standard of the stand

*x₂₅

20. Native grass seed shall be planted following topsoil placement between Sta. 0+00 and Sta. 3+00 using a seed mix, seed application rate, and planting method approved by the Owner.

21. Geotextile and turf reinforcement mat shall be installed in accordance with manufacturer's instructions and recommendations. Refer to Construction Specifications for additional information.

Sta. 0+50 to 4+50 53' to 21' Lt. ∖ LPSTP Length: 360' Woody Debris Height: 4' Upstream Key: 25'x4'x4' Downstream Key 10'x4'x4' 0+0r THIS REE <u>Sta 3+35.2</u> N 4930.86 E 4742.95 <u>Sta 2+60.4</u> N 4924.23 E 4668.44 <u>Sta 1+06.5</u> N 4942.66 LEGEND Sta 1+74.5 N 4926.84 F 4516.45 E 4582.50 Remove Tree (typ) Proposed Top of Bank' Grade top of bank to Piezomete Piezome direct overland flow away from graded slope. Existing Fence Existing Electric Cable (Approx.) **ISSUED FOR** CONSTRUCTION







					S	tructure Spec	ification S	heet				
Project Name Stream				County State		State	Bank					
Tec	Tecumseh Energy Center-Ash Pond Tecumseh Cree			reek	Shaw	/nee	Kansas	Length		Height		
										Shaped	Total	37 Feet
			Stru	cture		1		Key		300 Feet	486 Feet	
		Spacing	Angle	Height	Length	Key Length	Volume	Volume				
Number	Туре	(ft)	(Degrees)	(ft)	(ft)	(ft)	(yd°)	(yd³)	Tons	Material S	pecification	IS
1	LPSTP	-	-	4	365	35	325	21	519	Poorly Sorted Lime	stone Rock ((D ₅₀ = 24")
						Total yds3	346					
		s	Site Informat	tion								
Structure	Height (ft)		4	BkF Elev	856.0	At Station	0+75]		Quantities List		
Crest Wic	lth (ft)		-	Rosgen C	lassification	F6/E6			Poorly Sorted Roc	k (cubic yards)	346	
Finished S	Slope Grade / H	:V	1.7:1	Width/De	oth Ratio	4.7			Poorly Sorted Roc	k (tons)	519	
Schumm	Channel Stage		V	Entrenchr	nent Ratio	2.3			Bare Root Trees		80	
Radius of	Curvature (ft)		220	Channel V	Vidth (ft)	36.7			Live Stakes		134	
Maximum	Structure Space	ng (ft)	-	Tortuosity		6.0			Native Grass See	ding (acres)	0.5	
Regular S	tructure Spacinę	g (ft)	-	Shear Str	ess (lbs/ft ²)	0.17			Turf Reinforcemer	t Mat (square yards)	2,030	
Hydraulic	Radius (ft)		4.9	Slope = (ft/ft)	0.00056			Geotextile Fabric	(square yards)	500	
Mean De	oth (ft)		7.8	Wetted Pe	erimeter (ft)	49.8						
Cross Se	ctional Area (ft ²)		265	Manning's	n	0.031						
Bank Full	Discharge (cfs)		874	Mean Vel	ocity (ft/sec)	3.3						
Q5 Discha	rge (cfs)		2,610	Drainage	Area (mi ²)	10.1						
						7						
		Channe	l Bank Vege	etation					Landowner	Westar Energy -Tecun	nseh Energy	Center
	Vegetation Type Quantity					%	Paul Huber-Plant Supp	ort Enginee	r			
	Bare Root Seedlings / ea. 80					Address	818 S. Kansas Ave., F	.O. Box 889				
	Live Stakes / e	a.			134	1			City, State Zip	Topeka, KS 66601		
1	Seeding/acres				0.5				Phone	785-575-6436		
1									Legal	NW/4 Sec. 31 T11S R	17E	
1									Date	9/3/2010		





	Associates
T H E	INSTITUTE 66615 789-272-2252
TCOM NORTH ASH POND BERM REDESIGN BUDGET ITEM 0110644	DETAIL SHEET
DESIGNED DRAWN BY: APPROVED BY: DESIGN PROJ: CONST SCALE: DATE: DRAWING NO:	BAE JAG JEO 14668.077 AS NOTED 9/3/2010 CO3









OFFSET (FT)





OFFSET (FT)



885

875















OFFSET (FT)





APPENDIX B BOREHOLE LOGS



Temp:	50°F	Weather:	Partly cloudy	Engineer:	J. Obermeyer	Operator:	J. Johnson	Boring	TEC-3
Equipmer	nt: Tru	ick-mounted	CME drill rig	Contractor:	Terracon Consu	Itants, Inc.		Date	10/27/09
Location	Tecum	seh Energy C	Center	Northing	271,140	Easting	2,001,850	Job No.	093-81765.1

Depth (ft)

	Material	Notes
	0-1' GRAVEL 1-5' Stiff to very stiff, brown to reddish-brown, SILTY CLAY, little sand, (CL)	Road surface
		2" Shelby tube sample (Sample 1) from 3-5' (26" recovered) Pocket penetrometer result: 3.75 tsf (5')
	5-16' Stiff, dark brown, CLAY, trace sand, (CH)	
10		
		2" Shelby tube sample (Sample 2) from 13-15' (16" recovered) Pocket penetrometer result: 2.75 tsf (15')
	16-25' Stiff, brown, SILTY CLAY, little sand, (CL)	
20		
25 		End of boring at 25'
30		

Sample Descriptions and Boring Notes	Time	Depth of Hole	Depth to Waterline		
Groundwater was not encountered. Northing and pasting are approximate (+25') Revelation					
• Northing and easing are approximate (± 25). Borenole location was approximately 125' west of the bottom ash					
discharge point and 6' from the upstream berm crest.					
	Special Notes:				
	Terracon perso	onnel: John Johnson, Brandon H	lall		



Temp:	50°F	Weather:	Partly cloudy	Engineer:	J. Obermeyer	Operator:	J. Johnson	Boring	TEC-4
Equipmer	nt: Tru	ck-mounted (CME drill rig	Contractor:	Terracon Consu	Itants, Inc.		Date	10/27/09
Location	Tecum	seh Energy C	enter	Northing	271,040	Easting	2,001,595	Job No.	093-81765.1

Depth (ft)

0	Material	Notes
	 0-1' SAND with gravel and organics, black 1-7' Stiff to very stiff, brown to reddish-brown, SILTY CLAY, little sand, (CL) 	Road surface
		2" Shelby tube sample (Sample 1) from 3-5' (12" recovered) Pocket penetrometer result: 3.75 tsf (5')
	7-12' Stiff, reddish-brown to dark brown, SILTY CLAY, little sand, (CL)	
	12-25' Stiff, brown to reddish-brown, SILTY CLAY, some sand, (CL to CH)	2" Shelby tube sample (Sample 2) from 13-15' (18" recovered) Pocket penetrometer result: 1.5 tsf (15')
20		
25		End of boring at 25'

Sample Descriptions and Boring Notes	Time	Depth of Hole	Depth to Waterline		
Groundwater was not encountered					
Northing and easting are approximate (+25')					
	Special Notes:				
	Terracon pers	onnel: John Johnson, Brandon H	all		



Temp:	50°F	Weather:	Partly cloudy	Engineer:	J. Obermeyer	Operator:	J. Johnson	Boring	TEC-5
Equipmer	nt: Tru	ck-mounted (CME drill rig	Contractor:	Terracon Consu	Itants, Inc.		Date	10/27/09
Location	Tecum	seh Energy C	Center	Northing	270,900	Easting	2,001,835	Job No.	093-81765.1

Depth (ft)

0	Material	Notes
0	0-1' Dense, black, organic SAND, some gravel, (SP) 1-5' Very stiff, red to brown, SILTY CLAY, trace sand (CL to CH)	Road surface
		2" Shelby tube sample (Sample 1) from 3-5' (24" recovered) Pocket penetrometer result: 4.25 tsf (5')
5	5-15' Stiff, dark brown to dark gray, SILTY CLAY, little sand, (CL)	
10		
		2" Shelby tube sample (Sample 2) from 13-15' (29" recovered) Pocket penetrometer result: 1.75 tsf (15')
13		End of boring at 15'
20		
25		

Sample Descriptions and Boring Notes	Time	Depth of Hole	Depth to Waterline		
Groundwater was not encountered.					
 Northing and easting are approximate (±25'). Borehole 					
location was approximately in the center of the bern.					
	Special Notes:				
	Terracon perso	onnel: John Johnson, Brandon H	all		



Temp: <u>50</u> Equipment:	D°F Weather: Sunny Engineer: J. Oberm Truck-mounted CME-75 drill rig Contractor: Terracon	neyer Operator: J. Johnson Boring P-1 Consultants, Inc. Date 3/23/10
Location	Tecumseh Energy Center Northing 271,148	Easting <u>2,001,808</u> Job No. <u>093-81765.1</u>
Depth (ft)	Material	Notes
0	0-3' Compact, gray, SILTY SAND, trace fines, (SM)	Road surface
	3-6' Stiff to very stiff, brown to reddish-brown, SANDY	Moisture content below optimum moisture content
5		
	6.11' Stiff to your stiff brown SANDY CLAY (CL)	Moisture content near optimum moisture content
	- TT Sun to very sun, brown, SANDT CLAT, (CL)	
10		
	11-17' Hard, reddish-brown, cemented, CLAY, (CL)	Difficult drilling, dry
15		
	17-23 Stiff, Drown, SILTY CLAY, (CL)	Moisture content dry of optimum moisture content
20		
•	23-36' Stiff brown SANDY CLAY (CL)	Moisture content increasing from ontimum moisture content to
	20-00 Guil, DIGWI, GANDI GEAT, (CE)	saturated with depth
23		
		1.6" diameter liner sample from 33-35' (24" recovered)
35		
<u> </u>	36-40' Firm, brown, SANDY CLAY, (CL)	Saturated
		End of boring at 40'
40		

Sample Descriptions and Boring Notes	Time	Depth of Hole	Depth to Waterline
Groundwater was measured at a depth of 23.5' approximately	15:30	40'	23.5'
2 hours after drilling was completed.			
• Northing and easting are approximate (+10') Borehole			
location was approximately 22' from the upstream berm crest. Surface elevation is approximately 885'.	Terracon pers	sonnel: John (driller), Rick (helper)	



Temp:	50°F	Weather:	Sunny	Engineer:	J. Obermeyer	Operator:	J. Johnson	Boring	P-2
Equipmer	nt: Truc	ck-mounted C	CME-75 drill rig	Contractor:	Terracon Consul	tants, Inc.		Date	3/23/10
Location	Tecums	eh Energy C	enter	Northing	271,162	Easting	2,001,923	Job No.	093-81765.1
				_		_			

Depu	(II)	Material	Notes
	0	0-2.5' Compact, gray, SILTY SAND, trace fines, (SM)	Road surface
	-		
	-	2.5-5' Stiff to very stiff, brown to reddish-brown, SANDY CLAY, (CL)	
	-		
	5	5-10' Stiff to very stiff brown SANDY CLAY (CL)	Moisture content slightly below optimum moisture content
	-		
	-		
	-		
	10		
	10	10-12.5' Stiff to very stiff, gray, SANDY CLAY, (CL)	
	-		
	-	12.5-18' Very stiff, brown, CLAY, (CL)	Moisture content slightly below optimum moisture content
	-		
	- 15		
	-		
	-		
	-	18-33' Stiff, brown, CLAY, (CL)	Moisture content increasing, near optimum moisture content
	20		
	20		
	_		
	-		
T	-		
•	25		
	-		
	-		
	-		
	30		
	_		
	-		
	-	33-39.5° Firm, brown, CLAY, (CL)	Moisture content above optimum moisture content
	35		
	-		
	-		
	-		
			End of boring at 39.5'
	- 40		

Sample Descriptions and Boring Notes	Time	Depth of Hole	Depth to Waterline	
Groundwater was measured at a depth of 24.5' approximately	15:00	39.5'	24.5'	
5 hours after drilling was completed.				
 Northing and easting are approximate (±10'). Borehole 				
location was approximately 16' from the upstream berm crest.	Terracon personnel: John (driller), Rick (helper)			
Surface elevation is approximately 885.				

APPENDIX C LABORATORY GEOTECHNICAL TEST RESULTS

EVALUATION OF BOTTOM ASH STAGING AREA SLOPE STABILITY WESTAR ENERGY - TECUMSEH ENERGY CENTER SUMMARY OF LABORATORY GEOTECHNICAL TEST RESULTS

Borehole	Sample	Depth	USCS Classification	Dry Unit Weight	Moisture Content	Liquid Limit	Plasticity Limit	Plasticity Index	Effective Friction Angle	Effective Cohesion
TEC-3	2	13-15'	СН	100 pcf	24%	50	17	33		
TEC-4	2	13-15'	CL	102 pcf	23%	42	18	24	29 deg	180 psf
TEC-5	1	3-5'	CL	104 pcf	22%	48	18	30		
P-1	1	33-35'	CL			44	17	27		





N:\CMLAB_DATA\00 Projects in Progress\2009 Projects in Progress\14095047\14095047 Triaxial CU Staged B-C TEC4-2-13.0.xls]REPORT













Golder Associates Inc.

APPENDIX D SEISMIC HAZARD MAP



Two-percent probability of exceedance in 50 years map of peak ground acceleration

Reference: United States Geological Survey (2014). Site location callout added.

Established in 1960, Golder Associates is a global, employee-owned organization that helps clients find sustainable solutions to the challenges of finite resources, energy and water supply and management, waste management, urbanization, and climate change. We provide a wide range of independent consulting, design, and construction services in our specialist areas of earth, environment, and energy. By building strong relationships and meeting the needs of clients, our people have created one of the most trusted professional services organizations in the world.

- Africa Asia Australasia Europe North America South America
- + 27 11 254 4800
- + 852 2562 3658
- + 61 3 8862 3500
- + 356 21 42 30 20
- + 1 800 275 3281

+ 56 2 2616 2000

solutions@golder.com www.golder.com

Golder Associates Inc. 44 Union Boulevard, Suite 300 Lakewood, CO 80228 Tel: (303) 980-0540 Fax: (303) 985-2080



Engineering Earth's Development, Preserving Earth's Integrity

Golder, Golder Associates and the GA globe design are trademarks of Golder Associates Corporation